IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

DIAMOND GROVE CENTER, LLC

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2011-SA-01128

MISSISSIPPI STATE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH and VICKSBURG HEALTHCARE, LLC, d/b/a River Region Health System, Vicksburg

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE DECISION OF THE HINDS CHANCERY COURT, FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

OF COUNSEL:

Thomas L. Kirkland, Jr., MSB No. Allison C. Simpson, MSB No. Andy Lowry, MSB No. Copeland, Cook, Taylor & Bush, P.A. Post Office Drawer 6020 Ridgeland, Mississippi 39158 Telephone: 601-856-7200 Facsimile: 601-856-8242

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

Summary of the Argument			
Argument .			
I.	Subsection (iii) Does Not Authorize River Region's CON 7		
	A. The Moratorium Exception Must Be Narrowly Construed 7		
	B. The Department's Reading Is Contrary to the Letter and Intent of the Statute		
	C. The Attorney General Has Opined That an Expired CON Cannot Be Reissued Contrary to a Moratorium 11		
	D. The Department Could Rely Only Upon the Part of Subsection (iii) Not Stricken by the 2002 Decision		
II.	Without Subsection (iii), the Department Cannot Award the CON \dots 15		
Conclusion			
Certificate of Service 17			

.

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Brentwood Health Mgmt. of Miss., LLC v. Miss. State Dep't of Health, 29 So. 3d 775, (Miss. Ct. App. 2009)
<i>Caves v. Yarbrough</i> , 991 So. 2d 142 (Miss. 2008) 14
Dialysis Solution, LLC v. Miss. State Dep't of Health, 31 So. 3d 1204 (Miss. 2009) 6, 9
Gill v. Miss. Dep't of Wildlife Conserv., 574 So. 2d 586 (Miss. 1990)
Grant Ctr. Hosp., Inc. v. Health Group of Jackson, Inc., 528 So. 2d 804 (Miss. 1988) 10
McCorkle v. Loumiss Timber Co., 760 So. 2d 845 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) 13
Miss. Dep't of Wildlife, Fisheries & Parks v. Miss. Wildlife Enforcement Officers' Ass'n, Inc., 740 So. 2d 925 (Miss. 1999)
Miss. Ins. Guar. Ass'n v. Vaughn, 529 So. 2d 540 (Miss. 1988) 10
Miss. Methodist Hosp. & Rehab. Ctr., Inc. v. Miss. Div. of Medicaid, 21 So. 3d 600 (Miss. 2009)
Miss. State Dep't of Health v. Miss. Baptist Med. Ctr., 663 So. 2d 563 (Miss. 1995)
Miss. State Dep't of Health v. Natchez Cmty. Hosp., 743 So. 2d 973 (Miss. 1999) 6
Oktibbeha County Hosp. v. Miss. State Dep't of Health, 956 So. 2d 207 (Miss. 2007)
Quinn v. Branning, 404 So. 2d 1018 (Miss. 1981) 13-14
St. Dominic-Jackson Mem'l Hosp. v. Miss. State Dep't of Health, 728 So. 2d 81 (Miss. 1998) 15
Zumwalt v. Jones County Bd. of Supervisors, 19 So. 3d 672 (Miss. 2009) 9

Statutes:

Cases:

. . .

-

эвъ¶

¢

9 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Miss. Code Ann. § 41-7-201
6	Miss. Code Ann. § 41–7–195 .

_____i

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- Miss. Code Ann. § 41-7-191(4)(a)(iii) allowed the Department to issue a CON despite a general moratorium and without any showing of need. The Department has already done this once. Does the statute allow the Department to keep granting more CONs, or should the exception be construed narrowly?
- II. If the aforesaid exception does not apply, then can the Department issue a CON contrary to a statutory moratorium and without any showing of need?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Course of Proceedings Below

Vicksburg Healthcare, LLC, which does business as "River Region Health System, Vicksburg," applied in March 2010 for a certificate of need ("CON") from the Mississippi State Department of Health. River Region and the Department are the appellees in this case.

The CON application proposed to renovate or add 20 beds for child/adolescent psychiatric services. The Department's staff recommended approval. As an "affected person" under the CON Review Manual and governing statutes, the present appellant, Diamond Grove Center, LLC, requested a hearing during the course of review, challenging the legal and factual validity of River Region's application.

After all parties had presented testimony and other evidence at the hearing in November 2010—excluding any evidence of need, which the hearing officer did not allow—the hearing officer in February 2011 recommended approval of River Region's application. This the State Health Officer did in March 2011, and Diamond Grove timely appealed to the Hinds Chancery Court.

The chancery court (Thomas, J.) on July 25, 2011, issued its opinion and judgment affirming the award of the CON to River Region. Diamond Grove timely appealed on August 3, 2011. R.E. 2, 3.¹

 $^{^{\}mbox{\tiny 1"}}$ R.E." refers to the Record Excerpts for Appellant; the hearing transcript is cited as "T.___."

II. Relevant Facts

The Mississippi Legislature has imposed a moratorium on child/adolescent psychiatric beds, so that a CON for such beds can be granted only pursuant to an express statutory exception. Miss. Code Ann. 41–7–191(4)(a). This case arises under what is alleged to be one of those exceptions, as stated at subsection (iii) of the statute:

(iii) The department may issue a certificate or certificates of need for the construction or expansion of child/adolescent psychiatric beds or the conversion of other beds to child/adolescent psychiatric beds in Warren County. For purposes of this subparagraph (iii), the provisions of Section 41-7-193(1) requiring substantial compliance with the projection of need as reported in the current State Health Plan are waived. The total number of beds that may be authorized under the authority of this subparagraph shall not exceed twenty (20) beds. There shall be no prohibition or restrictions on participation in the Medicaid program (Section 43-13-101 et seq.) for the person receiving the certificate of need authorized under this subparagraph or for the beds converted pursuant to the authority of that certificate of need.

If by January 1, 2002, there has been no significant commencement of construction of the beds authorized under this subparagraph (iii), or no significant action taken to convert existing beds to the beds authorized under this subparagraph, then the certificate of need that was previously issued under this subparagraph shall expire. If the previously issued certificate of need expires, the department may accept applications for issuance of another certificate of need for the beds authorized under this subparagraph, and may issue a certificate of need to authorize the construction, expansion or conversion of the beds authorized under this subparagraph.

Id. at § 41–7–191(4)(a)(iii).

The legislative history of this bill has been set forth in prior litigation regarding subsection (iii). R.E. 7. The second paragraph ("If by January 1 . . .") was added by House Bill 767 in 2001, purporting to revoke the CON that had been issued by the Department pursuant to subsection (iii) to Children's Hospital of Vicksburg, LLC. R.E. 7 at 4. The second paragraph may thus be called the "2001 Amendment."

-3-

Children's Hospital then filed suit to challenge the legality of the 2001 Amendment. R.E. 7 at 5. While that suit was pending, the Legislature enacted a second provision (the "2002 Amendment") directing the Department to take an unrelated CON and give it to River Region. R.E. 7 at 5. Children's Hospital amended its complaint to challenge that statute as well. R.E. 7 at 5.

The Hinds Chancery Court (Wise, J.) in October 2002 issued its decision striking both the 2001 and 2002 Amendments. R.E. 7. In particular, the chancery court held that the 2001 Amendment violated both the constitutional separation of powers and the right of Children's Hospital to due process of law, so that the Amendment was "unconstitutional and . . . of no force and effect." R.E. 7 at 11. The court concluded that the 2001 Amendment was "void and of no effect." R.E. 7 at 18. The Department never appealed this decision, which thus remains in force. R.E. 2 at 8.

Thus, the CON granted to Children's Hospital pursuant to subsection (iii) remained in effect; however, years later, it was revoked by the Department for failure to make satisfactory progress, and the Mississippi Court of Appeals affirmed that revocation. *See generally Brentwood Health Mgmt. of Miss., LLC v. Miss. State Dep't of Health*, 29 So. 3d 775 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009). This Court denied certiorari in March 2010, the same month that River Region swooped in to file its CON application.

It was River Region's theory that, with the CON held by Children's Hospital having been revoked, River Region could now apply for a CON under subsection (iii). As shown by the staff analysis, R.E. 4, the Department actually relied upon the unconstitutional 2001 Amendment in recommending approval for the project. R.E. 4 at 3.

-4-

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Legislature has placed a moratorium on any new CON being granted for child/adolescent psychiatric beds. A statutory exception was made to allow a CON for 20 such beds in Warren County, waiving any showing of need, but that CON has already been granted and then revoked years later.

Exceptions to general statutes are construed narrowly. Looking at the plain language of the statute, the Legislature did not intend for the Department to have the authority to keep granting CONs under the exception, a reading that would lead to absurd results and would be inconsistent with the duty to interpret the statute narrowly. Moreover, in an amendment to the statute (later overturned as unconstitutional), the Legislature granted the power to issue a new CON if the first one expired, thus proving that no such intent underlay the original statute. This Court should also find persuasive the Attorney General's reasoning that when a CON is issued pursuant to a statutory exception but then ceases to be in effect, the moratorium controls and a new CON cannot be issued under the same exception. Finally, the Department cannot at this late date claim that the second sentence of the stricken amendment is severable; even if the argument were made, the two sentences of the amendment were so interconnected as to be inseparable, and the Legislature by reenacting the language unchanged has acquiesced in the chancery court's interpretation.

Once the statutory exception claimed by the Department in this case is held not to apply, the CON must be revoked, both because of the statutory moratorium and because the applicant could not and did not show need for the project.

-5-

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

The standard of review of a final order of the Department is controlled by Miss.

Code Ann. § 41–7–201(2)(f), which provides in part:

[t]he Order shall not be vacated or set aside, either in whole or in part, except for errors of law, unless the Court finds that the Order is not supported by substantial evidence, is contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence, **is in excess of the statutory authority** or jurisdiction [Department], or violates any vested constitutional rights of any party involved in the appeal. ...

(emphasis added). This statute is "nothing more than a statutory restatement of familiar

limitations upon the scope of judicial review of administrative agency decisions." Miss.

State Dep't of Health v. Natchez Cmty. Hosp., 743 So. 2d 973, 976 (Miss. 1999) (citation

omitted). Because this Court reviews the agency's decision, not the chancellor's, it does

not defer to the chancellor's decision on appeal from the agency, but reviews the

chancery court's decision de novo. Miss. State Dep't of Health v. Miss. Baptist Med.

Ctr., 663 So. 2d 563, 574 (Miss. 1995).

Errors of law are reviewed de novo in administrative appeals. *Dialysis Solution, LLC v. Miss. State Dep't of Health*, 31 So. 3d 1204, 1211 (Miss. 2009). This Court has typically given deferential consideration to agency interpretations of their governing statutes, on the following basis:

This duty of deference derives from our realization that the everyday experience of the administrative agency gives it familiarity with the particularities and nuances of the problems committed to its care which no court can hope to replicate.

Gill v. Miss. Dep't of Wildlife Conserv., 574 So. 2d 586, 593 (Miss. 1990). But "whatever the precise content of [this Court's] duty of deference, it has no material force where agency action is contrary to the statutory language." *Id*.

I. Subsection (iii) Does Not Authorize River Region's CON.

There is no dispute that subsection (iii) authorized the issuance of a CON despite the moratorium—to Children's Hospital in 1995. But that CON has been revoked. What is at issue, then, is whether the statutory exception at subsection (iii) is to be construed narrowly, so as to allow a one-time award of a CON, or so broadly as to give the Department power to issue however many CONs it deems necessary under the statute.

A. The Moratorium Exception Must Be Narrowly Construed.

Exceptions to statutes are construed narrowly:

Thus, in the resolution of ambiguities, courts favor a general provision over an exception, and **one seeking to be excluded from the operation of the statute must establish that the exception embraces him**. These rules are particularly applicable **where the statute promotes the public welfare**, or where, in general, the law itself is entitled to a liberal construction....

••••

Statutes granting exemptions from their general operation must be strictly construed, and any doubt must be resolved against the one asserting the exemption.

Miss. Dep't of Wildlife, Fisheries & Parks v. Miss. Wildlife Enforcement Officers' Ass'n,

Inc., 740 So. 2d 925, 932 (Miss. 1999) (quoting 73 Am. Jur. 2d Statutes § 313 at 463-64

(1974)) (ellipses in original; emphasis added).

Subsection (iii), absent the 2001 Amendment stricken in 2002, says:

(iii) The department may issue a certificate or certificates of need for the construction or expansion of child/adolescent psychiatric beds or the conversion of other beds to child/adolescent psychiatric beds in Warren County. For purposes of this subparagraph (iii), the provisions of Section 41-7-193(1) requiring substantial compliance with the projection of need as reported in the current State Health Plan are waived. The total number of beds that may be authorized under the authority of this subparagraph shall not exceed twenty (20) beds. This statute authorizes the Department to issue one or more certificates up to 20 beds. By its plain language, that is all it does. It does not give perpetual authority to issue an indefinite number of CONs if the CON granted pursuant to the statute expires or is revoked. The latter interpretation would fly in the face of this Court's holding that a statutory exception, like this exception to the moratorium declared by §41-7-191(4)(a), must be construed narrowly, "particularly . . . where the statute promotes the public welfare." Here, the moratorium on child/adolescent psychiatric beds, like the moratorium on nursing-home beds, promotes the public welfare by limiting healthcare costs (especially Medicaid costs); this Court should therefore follow its usual rule and interpret the exception as narrowly as possible.

B. The Department's Reading Is Contrary to the Letter and Intent of the Statute.

But the Department will claim that it is owed some deference in the interpretation of CON statutes. That is so, except where the interpretation is contrary to the statute, or is contrary to the Legislature's intent. *Miss. Methodist Hosp. & Rehab. Ctr., Inc. v. Miss. Div. of Medicaid*, 21 So. 3d 600, 608 (Miss. 2009). Here, the Department's reading of subsection (iii) is contrary to the statute and to the intent behind it.

First, the statute does not require the Department to issue a CON, but says only that it "may" do so. A "shall" command implicitly suspends any rules to the contrary. *See Oktibbeha County Hosp. v. Miss. State Dep't of Health*, 956 So. 2d 207, 209-10 (Miss. 2007). No such intent can be read into the use of "may." If the Legislature had meant to require the Department to keep a CON in place in Warren County for the beds in question, it would have said "shall," not "may."

-8-

Second, it is in the nature of a CON to expire after one year, barring renewal by the Department. The Court of Appeals, looking to the 2001 Amendment, noted that "the Legislature did not intend for the CONs to exist in perpetuity." *Brentwood Health Mgmt. of Miss., LLC v. Miss. State Dep't of Health*, 29 So. 3d 775, 779 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009). This was a correct statement of the law, but not for the reason cited by the Court of Appeals, i.e. the stricken 2001 Amendment. Rather, the plain language of the CON Law makes it clear that no CON can "exist in perpetuity," because § 41–7–195 says that a CON is valid only for a limited time (12 months, with a 6-month extension).

It was the Department's practice of ignoring this statute that led this Court, in the *Dialysis Solution* case, to hold that, despite any deference due to an agency's statutory interpretation, the Department's understanding of the CON Law was contrary to the language of the statute. *Dialysis Solution*, 31 So. 3d at 1214. "Presumably, the Legislature would not have enacted Section 41–7–195 if it had intended CONs to remain valid indefinitely or until the MSDH chose to revoke them." *Id.* at 1213. *See also Zumwalt v. Jones County Bd. of Supervisors*, 19 So. 3d 672, 687 (Miss. 2009) ("the CON laws apply only to the construction, development, or establishment of health care facilities").

Here, the Legislature in subsection (iii) authorized a CON grant for Warren County—a CON it did not mean to "remain valid indefinitely." It makes no sense to suppose that the Legislature intended to authorize successive grants of CONs under subsection (iii). On that reading, if River Region prevails in this case and implements its 20 psychiatric beds, the CON in question will cease to remain valid—and once there is no CON in place, the Department will have authority to issue another CON for 20

-9-

more beds! That would make no sense, but that is the reading urged by the appellees in this case. Nothing in subsection (iii) makes the grant of a CON contingent on the number of psychiatric beds already operating in Warren County. Indeed, subsection (iii) expressly says that need for the beds is not a consideration.

No, the statutory exception at subsection (iii) must be construed narrowly, in accordance with this Court's precedents and the evident intent of the Legislature, to authorize a one-time grant of a CON, not a grant of perpetual power to the Department.

More evidence of that intent is supplied by the language of the unconstitutional 2001 Amendment, which, although stricken, retains interest for its showing of legislative intent. This Court will look to a later act by the Legislature to help understand its legislative intent in an earlier part of the CON Law, as with any statute. *Grant Ctr. Hosp., Inc. v. Health Group of Jackson, Inc.*, 528 So. 2d 804, 810 (Miss. 1988).

The second sentence of the 2001 Amendment says: "If the previously issued certificate of need expires, the department may accept applications for issuance of another certificate of need for the beds authorized under this subparagraph, and may issue a certificate of need to authorize the construction, expansion or conversion of the beds authorized under this subparagraph." In other words, the Legislature considered it necessary to *expressly state* that an expired CON would allow the Department to accept applications for a new CON under subsection (iii). So far as the Legislature was concerned, that power did not exist under the first paragraph of subsection (iii)—otherwise, why grant it in the 2001 Amendment?

This Court will not construe a legislative enactment to be "mere surplusage." Miss. Ins. Guar. Ass'n v. Vaughn, 529 So. 2d 540, 544 (Miss. 1988). Thus, however

-10-

unconstitutional the 2001 Amendment was, it nonetheless indicates that the Legislature did not understand the first paragraph of subsection (iii) (i.e., the only part still in force today) to authorize the Department to issue a second CON after the CON granted under subsection (iii) ceased to be in effect.

C. The Attorney General Has Opined That an Expired CON Cannot Be Reissued Contrary to a Moratorium.

Finally, this Court may also wish to compare the present case with the situation addressed by the Attorney General regarding the similar moratorium on nursing-home beds. R.E. 8. The State Health Officer had asked the Attorney General to interpret Miss. Code Ann. § 41-7-191(2)(q)(i), which provided for a specific exception to that moratorium:

Beginning on July 1, 1999, the State Department of Health shall issue certificates of need during each of the next four (4) fiscal years for the construction or expansion of nursing facility beds or the conversion of other beds to nursing facility beds in each county in the state having a need for fifty (50) or more additional nursing facility beds, as shown in the fiscal year 1999 State Health Plan, in the manner provided in this paragraph (q). The total number of nursing facility beds that may be authorized by any certificate of need authorized under this paragraph (q) shall not exceed sixty (60) beds.

As described in the Attorney General's opinion, the Department had issued one or more CONs pursuant to this exception, but they had expired without the granted beds' having been implemented. R.E. 8 at 2.

While this situation is partially distinguishable due to the time limits set by the Legislature (CONs to issue only over four fiscal years), the Attorney General's opinion did not rely solely upon those time limits. Rather, it stated: "The fact that a facility was never built and the CON allowed to expire does not alter the fact that the moratorium is still in place. Therefore, it is the opinion of this office that the moratorium now prohibits" issuance of a CON under the statute. R.E. 8 at 2.

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