IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DIAMOND GROVE CENTER, LLC

APPELLANT

VS.

CIVIL ACTION NO. 2011-SA-01128

MISSISSIPPI STATE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND VICKSBUG HEALTHCARE, LLC d/b/a RIVER REGION HEALTH SYSTEM, VICKSBURG

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE DECISION OF THE HINDS COUNTY CHANCERY COURT, FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

VICKSBURG HEALTHCARE d/b/a RIVER REGION HEALTH SYSTEM'S BRIEF OF APPELLEE

OF COUNSEL:

i

Kathryn R. Gilchrist, MSB Brant J. Ryan, MSB ADAMS and REESE LLP 1018 Highland Colony Parkway, Suite 800 Ridgeland, Mississippi 39157 Telephone: (601) 353-3234 Facsimile: (601) 355-9708

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Final Judgment of the Hinds County Chancery Court, First Judicial District affirming the Final Order of the Mississippi State Department of Health must be upheld. *See* D.G. R.E. 3 (Final Judgment, July 25, 2011).

First, this matter is clearly governed by the exception to the moratorium on adolescent psychiatric inpatient beds. That exception, found at *Miss Code Ann*. §41-7-191 (4)(a)(iii), plainly and unambiguously gives the Department permission to issue one or more certificates of need so that an additional twenty (20) Medicaid certified adolescent psychiatric beds may be put into service in Warren County. Diamond Grove's interpretation of the CON statute would prevent its practical application. The Department's interpretation of the exception's scope is sound, reasonable, and in harmony with the plain language of the CON statute. As the Chancellor concluded, that interpretation and the resulting decision to approve this CON must stand.

Second, Diamond Grove's "one-time award" argument is premised on an incorrect statement of the position espoused by both the Department and River Region. Construing the moratorium exception to mandate that the Department's authority to grant a CON expires upon the mere approval of a CON which is subsequently voided because the CON was never implemented is illogical and actually would serve to completely defeat the legislature's clear purpose in the exception. Where as here, the Department voided the first CON issued under the exception because the holder of that CON refused to implement it as the legislature had provided, the Department is unquestionably within its proper authority to issue a subsequent CON for those same beds.

Furthermore, Diamond Grove's reliance on neither the *Thompson* opinion issued by the Attorney General's office in 2008, nor the 2002 Order and Opinion of the First Judicial District

of the Hinds County Chancery Court (Judge Wise) provide any support for its "one-time award" argument. *Thompson* is factually distinguishable because of the Legislative time limit contained in the moratorium exception therein. And the 2002 Order and Opinion of the Hinds County Chancery Court left the original moratorium language (upon which the Department relied to grant River Region's CON) untouched. As a result, the Department's authority to grant the subject CON was unaffected by that decision.

For these reasons, the Court should affirm the Final Judgment of the Hinds County Chancery Court, First Judicial District affirming the Final Order of the Mississippi State Department of Health.

ARGUMENT

I. The Exception to the Moratorium on Adolescent Psychiatric Beds is Valid and Controlling.

There is no basis to overturn the Department's action granting River Region's application

for a certificate of need. The Department acted within its authority to grant, and correctly

granted, the CON as expressly authorized by Miss. Code Ann. §41-7-191(4)(a)(iii).

The Department properly concluded this matter is governed by Miss. Code Ann. §41-7-

191(4)(a)(iii). This section contains an exception to the long-standing moratorium on the

approval of any additional Medicaid-certified adolescent psychiatric beds in the State. It

provides in pertinent part:

The Department may issue a certificate or certificates of need for the construction or expansion of child/adolescent psychiatric beds or the conversion of other beds to child/adolescent psychiatric beds in Warren County. For purposes of this subparagraph (iii), the provisions of Section 41-7-193(1) requiring substantial compliance with the projection of need as reported in the current State Health Plan are waived. The total number of beds that may be authorized under the authority of this subparagraph shall not exceed twenty (20) beds. There shall be no prohibition or restrictions on participation in the Medicaid program (Section 43-13-101 *et seq.*) for the person receiving the certificate of need authorized under this subparagraph or for the beds converted pursuant to the authority of that certificate of need.

Miss. Code Ann. §41-7-191(4)(a)(iii).

Diamond Grove argues that this statutory exception is no longer effective because it was "used up" by the Department when a CON was granted under its authority some years ago, even though **no beds were ever put into service in Warren County under that CON**. For the reasons that follow, Diamond Grove's argument is meritless.

A. The Plain, Unambiguous Language of the Statute Makes Its Purpose Clear.

When a statute is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, there

is no occasion to resort to rules of statutory interpretation. Mississippi Methodist Hospital and

Rehabilitation Center, Inc. v. Mississippi Div. of Medicaid, 21 So. 3d 600, 607 (Miss. 2009).

Rather, courts have a duty to give statutes a practical application consistent with their wording, unless such application is inconsistent with the obvious intent of the Legislature. *Marx v. Broom*, 632 So. 2d 1315, 1318 (Miss. 1994).

The language of the exception in \$41-7-191(4)(a)(iii) is clear and unambiguous. It expressly provides that the "Department may issue a **certificate or certificates** of need" *Miss. Code Ann.* \$41-7-191(4)(a)(iii) (emphasis added). The Legislature was clear in its expression – and thus its intent is obvious – to authorize the Department to issue one or multiple certificates of need so that an additional twenty (20) Medicaid certified adolescent psychiatric beds may be put into service in Warren County. *Id*.

As the Department concluded, "there is no cognizable argument to be made that ambiguity exists in the subject statutory provision." Hrg. Off. Op. at 11; and D.G. R.E. 5 (Hearing Officer's Findings, Conclusions, and Recommendations) & 6 (Final Order). According to the "plain, unambiguous language in the statute, it is clear that the exception continues to authorize the Department to grant certificates of need as it sees fit up to a maximum of twenty (20) additional adolescent psychiatric beds in Warren County."⁴ Hrg. Off. Op. at 11. Thus, there was "no legislative impediment to the application submitted by River Region." *Id.* at 4. Furthermore, the Department's interpretation "effectuates that clear purpose [of the Legislature] by allowing a subsequent CON for up to twenty (20) child/adolescent psychiatric beds in Warren County" and this interpretation should be afforded deference. D.G. R.E. 2 at page 10 (Chancery Court Opinion).

⁴ Diamond Grove suggests that River Region asks this Court find that the Department may, under the subject statutory exception, "issue however many CONs it deems necessary...." Diamond Grove Brf. at 7. That is false. River Region's position, and the clear intent of the Legislature, was to authorize the Department to issue however many CONs are necessary to put up to twenty beds in place in Warren <u>County</u>. To date, no beds have been placed pursuant to the exception. Thus, the Legislature's stated purpose has not yet been fulfilled.

B. Even if Ambiguity Were Found, the Legislature's Intent is Clear and Must Prevail.

As detailed above, the statutory moratorium is unambiguous. However, if it was arguably determined to be ambiguous, the Department's decision must be upheld. This Court has declared that if a statute is susceptible to more than one interpretation it "must be given that which will best effectuate [its] purposes rather than one which would defeat them." *Brady v. John Hancock Mutual Life Ins. Co.*, 342 So. 2d 295, 303 (Miss. 1977). When ascertaining the legislative purpose in a statute determined to be ambiguous, a court looks not only to the plain language of the statute, but also to the statute's "purpose and the objects to be accomplished." Narkeeta Timber Co. v. Jenkins, 777 So. 2d 39, 41 (Miss. 2000). The end goal of this review is to "get at the design and scope of the statute. **Only that construction will be justified which evidently carries out the purpose of the law**." *Coker v. Wilkinson*, 106 So. 886, 887-88 (Miss. 1926) (emphasis added).

The Legislature's purpose in Mississippi Code Annotated §41-7-191(4)(a)(iii) is clear – to make available twenty (20) additional Medicaid-certified adolescent psychiatric beds in Warren County. Therefore, "even if could be concluded that this entirely transparent statute is somehow ambiguous, the rules of construction applied by the Supreme Court would nonetheless empower the Department to grant River Region's application for these twenty beds in Warren County, because that is the only construction of the statute that could be considered consistent with the Legislature's intent." Hrg. Off. Op. at 12; and D.G. R.E. 5 (Hearing Officer's Findings, Conclusions, and Recommendations). The statute's language is unambiguous, but even if it were, the Legislature's clear intent would carry the day, requiring the Department's decision to be affirmed.

C. There is No Basis for Diamond Grove's "One-Time Award" Argument.

Diamond Grove creates a false dichotomy in arguing that the Court must choose between either a "one-time award of a CON" or the "perpetual authority to issue an indefinite number of CONs." Diamond Grove Brf. at 7-8. Its premise is flawed and mischaracterizes River Region's actual argument: that the moratorium exception must be interpreted and applied in a manner that is consistent with the plain language of the statute.

This Court must affirm the Department's decision to act under the express language of the statutory exception so that the beds authorized thereby can finally be put into service in Warren County. Adopting Diamond Grove's "one-time award" argument would be contrary to the judicial duty to give the CON statute a practical application consistent with its wording.⁵ See generally Miss. Dep't of Wildlife, Fisheries & Parks v. Miss. Wildlife Enforcement Officers' Ass'n, Inc., 740 So. 2d 925 (Miss. 1999); Marx v. Broom, 632 So. 2d 1315, 1318 (Miss. 1994);

⁵ In its brief, Diamond Grove chose to omit appropriate context of this Court's opinion in *Miss. Dep't of Wildlife, Fisheries & Parks v. Miss. Wildlife Enforcement Officers' Ass'n* when it argues that the moratorium exception should be narrowly construed. *See* Diamond Grove Brf. at 7 (citing 740 So. 2d 925, 932 (Miss. 1999)). That case was an appeal of an administrative body's denial of a Mississippi Public Records Act ("MPRA") request. The administrative body argued that the requested records were exempt from production even though such a disclosure was not explicitly exempt according to the statute. *Id.* This Court explained that a statutory exemption could not be created by construction, and ordinarily "an exception must appear plainly from the express words or necessary intendment of the statue." *Id.* Immediately following the citation to secondary authority that Diamond Grove selectively quoted, this Court stated:

It is also important to note that this Court has held that courts have a duty to give statutes a practical application consistent with their wording, unless such application is inconsistent with the obvious intent of the legislature. Thus, if a statute is not ambiguous, the court should simply apply the statute according to its plain meaning... The ultimate goal of the court is to discern and give effect to the legislative intent.

Id. at 932 (internal citations omitted). This appeal is clearly distinguishable from the case above because the CON statute contains an explicit exception, unlike the case above. The plain language of that exception demonstrates that the Legislature intended for the Department to have authority to issue one or more CONs for "the construction or expansion of child/adolescent psychiatric beds or the conversion of other beds to child/adolescent psychiatric beds in Warren County" not to exceed twenty beds. *Miss. Code Ann.* §41-7-191(4)(a)(iii). The Court's reasoning in the *Miss. Dep't of Wildlife, Fisheries & Parks* case (that an explicit exception must appear in the statute) clearly supports River Region's interpretation and the Department's ultimate decision.

West v. State, 725 So. 2d 872, 878 (Miss. 1998) ("[U]nless there is sufficient language to the contrary, the words of a statute are to be interpreted according to their usual and most common sense meaning, and ... statutes will be given a practical application consistent with their wording, unless the application is inconsistent with the obvious intent of the legislature").

It cannot reasonably be argued that the Legislature intended to only give the Department authority to grant an applicant permission to put adolescent psychiatric beds in service, without actually putting the beds in service. And yet that is precisely the position Diamond Grove takes here – that the mere grant of a CON which was never implemented and which was ultimately revoked fulfilled the Legislature's intent and "used up" the statutory exception. Such an interpretation expressly fails to give effect to the purpose of the statute and would lead to absurd results in this, and many future cases. Specifically, Diamond Grove's "one-time grant" argument undermines the purpose of the exception and would allow an applicant to obtain a CON, refuse to make a good faith effort to implement it, and thereafter bar the establishment of that facility or service by another qualified applicant in the absence of further legislative action. Such an outcome is antithetical to the Department's mission of promoting and protecting the health of Mississippi's citizens and cannot be the statutory interpretation endorsed by this Court.

The language in the original moratorium exception has never changed, despite repeated lobbying efforts by Diamond Grove's sister company. Nor was there any time limit placed on the authority the exception conferred on the Department to grant one or more certificates of need for beds in Warren County. "[B]ecause no beds have ever been established in Warren County under that section, and there being no time limit imposed by that section in which to make application, the exception to the moratorium on adolescent psychiatric beds remains available to the Department." Hrg. Off. Op. at 4; and D.G. R.E. 5 (Hearing Officer's Findings, Conclusions, and Recommendations).

Diamond Grove argues that because "it is the nature of a CON to expire after one year, barring renewal by the Department," "if River Region prevails in this case and implements its 20 psychiatric beds, the CON in question will cease to remain valid – and once there is no CON in place, the Department will have authority to issue another CON for 20 more beds!" Diamond Grove Brf. at 9-10. This argument is nonsensical and misrepresents the positions of both River Region and the Department. If River Region prevails in this case <u>and implements</u> the 20 beds there will no longer exist any authority under the current moratorium exception. Indeed, had Brentwood implemented the twenty beds during the more than five years that it held its CON, there would not now remain any authority for the Department to grant the requested CON because the maximum allowable beds under the exception would have been put in place.

Diamond Grove continues to ignore that no beds have ever been added to Warren County under the exception in §41-7-191(4)(a)(iii). Barring further legislative action, once the authorized twenty beds are implemented in Warren County, then and only then, will the Department's authority under the exception be exhausted. The Department's interpretation of the moratorium exception is "sound and reasonable and in harmony with the plain language of the relevant statute," and should be affirmed by this Court. D.G. R.E. 2 at page 11 (Chancery Court Opinion).

D. Diamond Grove's Reliance on the Cited AG Opinion is Misplaced.

As support for its "one-time award" argument, Diamond Grove relies on an Attorney General's opinion that is wholly distinguishable from the present facts. *See* Diamond Grove Brf. at 11-12; and *Thompson*, 2008 Miss. AG LEXIS 275 (Oct. 31, 2008). For the reasons set forth below, Diamond Grove's reliance on that opinion is entirely misplaced.⁶

⁶ Interestingly, after relying on the AG opinion as controlling in the pre-hearing and hearing proceedings as well as the chancery court appeal, Diamond Grove now concedes that the opinion is "partially distinguishable" and serves only as "persuasive" authority here. *See* Diamond Grove Brf. at 11-

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